IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREENMART OF NEVADA NLV LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC; and LONE MOUNTAIN PARTNERS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Electronically Filed Jan 23 2020 09:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER LLC; **NULEAF** TGIG. LLC; **INCLINE** DISPENSARY. LLC; **NEVADA** HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC; TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV, LLC; TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC; PARADISE CENTER, LLC; WELLNESS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC; FIDELIS HOLDINGS. LLC: **GRAVITAS** NEVADA, LLC; NEVADA PURE, LLC; MEDIFARM, LLC; MEDIFARM IV LLC; and THE STATE OF **NEVADA** DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION,

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order entered by the district court granting a motion for a preliminary injunction. The district court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law ("FFCL") granting a preliminary injunction on August 23, 2019 (22 AA5277-5300¹), and the notice of entry of order was filed and served on August 28, 2019. (23 AA5544-5570.) GreenMart filed a timely notice of appeal on September 19, 2019. (24 AA5934-49); *see also* NRAP 4(a)(1) (mandating that a notice of appeal must be filed no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served). This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3), which provides that an order granting or refusing to grant an injunction is an appealable determination.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to several provisions of NRAP 17(a). Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2), this Court retains jurisdiction because this appeal involves a ballot initiative. The Court also retains jurisdiction under NRAP 17(a)(8) because it is an administrative agency case involving Department of Taxation determinations. The Court also retains

1

¹ On January 10, 2020, Appellant Nevada Organic Remedies filed its Opening Brief and Appendices in this matter. Citations to Appellants' Appendix ("AA") are to both volume and page number. Hence, "22 AA5277-5300" refers to Volume 22 of Appellants' Appendix at pages 5277 through 5300.

jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9) because it is a matter originating in business court. The Court also retains jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12) because this is a matter raising as a principal issue a question of statewide importance regarding the current and future landscape of the legal recreational marijuana industry in Nevada.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether Respondents have standing to sue the State of Nevada, Department of Taxation (the "Department") for violations of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6);
- B. Whether the district court lacked jurisdiction to consider Respondents' petition for judicial review where Respondents failed to name all affected parties.
- C. Whether the district court erred by substituting the Department's interpretation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) with its own;
- D. Whether the district court erred in finding that Appellants did not list each of their prospective owners in their applications to open recreational marijuana establishments sufficiently to conduct the background checks required by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6);
- E. Whether the district court abused its discretion by failing to make any findings regarding irreparable harm Respondents would suffer if the preliminary injunction was denied;
- F. Whether the district court deprived GreenMart of due process by ordering the Department to provide information about GreenMart's compliance with Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) but not requiring the same information regarding Respondents' compliance with the statute;

G. Whether Respondents are barred from challenging the regulations set forth in NAC 453D.255(1) by the doctrine of laches or the doctrine of equitable estoppel.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 22, 2019, the district court temporarily coordinated a preliminary injunction hearing in four cases filed by several unsuccessful applicants for Nevada recreational marijuana establishment licenses (the "Unsuccessful Applicants"); the district court entered an order regarding coordination on July 11, 2019.² (20 AA4934-40.) The cases were filed against the State of Nevada Department of Taxation (the "Department"), and each lawsuit challenged the process the Department used in 2018 to accept and review applications for recreational marijuana establishment licenses and challenged the allocation of licenses. (*See*, *e.g.*, 29 AA7131-53 (Serenity Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint).)

GreenMart was a successful applicant in the 2018 licensing process and was awarded four conditional licenses. (*See* 11 AA2557-63 (2018 retail marijuana store applications scores and rankings); 16 AA3981-85 (same).) Along with several other recipients of conditional licenses (the "Successful Applicants"), GreenMart moved

² The four coordinated cases were *Serenity Wellness Center, LLC et al. v. Department of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-786962-B; *ETW Management Group, LLC et al. v. Department of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-787004-B; *MM Development Company, Inc. et al. v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-18-785818-W; and *Nevada Wellness Center, LLC v. Department Of Taxation*, Case No. A-19-787540-W.

to intervene in the coordinated cases. Relevant here, GreenMart moved to intervene in the matter filed by Respondents on April 2, 2019. (5 AA1094-1126.) The district court entered an order on April 16, 2019 granting GreenMart's motion to intervene. (6 AA1308-12.)

The Unsuccessful Applicants' motions for a preliminary injunction were based on assertions that the licensing process was flawed and that their claimed rights to a license were impacted by the Department's faulty process. The Unsuccessful Applicants used the evidentiary hearing as a vehicle to engage in a four-month fishing expedition into every aspect of the licensing process, attacking nearly every decision the Department made in accepting and grading applications in hopes of finding a reversible flaw.

In the end, while the district court rejected the bulk of the Unsuccessful Applicants' arguments, it granted a preliminary injunction based on a single legal issue that was not raised by any of the Unsuccessful Applicants, finding that the Department, in promulgating NAC 453D.255(1), arbitrarily and capriciously modified Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6), which requires the Department to conduct a background check of "each prospective owner" of a license applicant. (22 AA5298.) NAC 453D.255(1) purported to limit the application of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) to those owners "with an aggregate ownership interest of 5 percent or more in a marijuana establishment." Determining that the adoption of NAC

453D.255 and its 5 percent threshold was an "impermissible deviation" from Ballot Question 2, the court issued a preliminary injunction enjoining the Department from conducting a final inspection for any applicant that did not include "each prospective owner" in its application. (22 AA5298; 5300.)

The district court also ordered the Department to provide the court with information regarding "which of the successful applicants . . . complied with the statute, as opposed to the Department's administrative change to the statute which limited it to a 5 percent or greater ownership interest." (46 AA11329.) To the extent the Department determined that an applicant had not complied, the Department would be enjoined from conducting a final inspection of that applicant. This would effectively prevent those applicants—including GreenMart—from opening their conditionally-licensed marijuana establishments for business.

In making its decision, the district court ignored the fact that the same 5% Rule was already in place in the Nevada Administrative Code for the regulation of medical marijuana establishments. *See* NAC 453A.302(1). This regulation was adopted and has been applied since 2014 with respect to medical marijuana establishments. In fact, the September 2018 application solely permitted applicants that were already medical marijuana license holders. Accordingly, the same 5% ownership threshold had already been applied to the September 2018 applicants. Similar 5% ownership thresholds are codified in Nevada's gaming statutes and

federal securities regulations. As evidenced by its prior application to both the medical marijuana and gaming industries, this ownership threshold is a reasonable and necessary provision to permit the Department to regulate the recreational marijuana industry. Furthermore, both the Department and other witnesses testified during the hearing that it would be impossible to conduct background checks of every single owner of a recreational marijuana establishment if that establishment were a public company whose shareholders may change on a daily (or even more frequent) basis.

By rejecting the 5% Rule, the district court not only failed to provide the Department the deference it was due but also adopted a rigid interpretation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) that leads to absurd results because it would effectively bar any publicly traded company from operating in Nevada's recreational marijuana industry. Such an outcome ignores the reality that numerous publicly traded companies are already operating both medical and recreational marijuana establishments in Nevada. Moreover, the statute does not indicate any intention to bar publicly traded companies from operating marijuana establishments in Nevada.

Moreover, the district court's findings ignore that Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(1) specifically grants the Department authority to "adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out" the operation of marijuana establishments and explicitly directs the Department to avoid making the operation of a marijuana

establishment "unreasonably impracticable." *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. 453D.200(1). The district court's rejection of the 5% Rule not only ignores agency deference and contradicts the terms of the statute but also harms the entire industry, as publicly traded companies own and operate many of the best establishments in the state of Nevada.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Relevant Facts Regarding the September 2018 Application Period.

On November 8, 2016, Nevada voters passed the Regulation and Taxation of Marijuana Act (Ballot Question 2) (the "Act"), an act which legalized the purchase, possession, and consumption of recreational marijuana for adults 21 and older. The Department was to adopt regulations necessary to carry out the Act, including regulations that set forth the "[p]rocedures for the issuance, renewal, suspension, and revocation of a license to operate a marijuana establishment" and "[q]ualifications for licensure that are directly and demonstrably related to the operation of a marijuana establishment." Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(1)(a)-(b). Further, Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(1) directed the Department to "adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of NRS 453D, with the proviso that those regulations "must not prohibit the operation of marijuana establishments, either expressly or through regulations that make their operation unreasonably impracticable."

Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.210(2), for the first 18 months after the Department began to receive applications for marijuana establishments, the Department could only accept applications for licenses for marijuana establishments from "from persons holding a medical marijuana establishment registration certificate pursuant to chapter 453A of NRS."

On January 16, 2018, the Nevada Tax Commission unanimously approved permanent regulations ("Approved Regulations"). LCB File No. R092-17. The Approved Regulations went into effect on February 27, 2018. Thereafter, on August 16, 2018, the Department issued a Notice of Intent to Accept Applications ("Notice") for sixty-four (64) recreational marijuana retail store licenses to be located throughout various jurisdictions in Nevada. The Notice required that all applications be submitted between 8:00 a.m. on September 7, 2018 and 5:00 p.m. on September 20, 2018. Pursuant to section 80 of the Approved Regulations—later codified as NAC 453D.272—if the Department received more than one complete and qualified application for a license the Department would rank all applications within each jurisdiction from first to last based on compliance with NRS § 453D and the Approved Regulations. R092-17, Sec. 80; NAC 453D.272(1). The Department was then required to go down the list and issue the highest scoring applicants the available licenses. NAC 453D.272(3).

///

Between September 7, 2018 and September 20, 2018, the Department accepted applications for licenses to open recreational marijuana establishments throughout Nevada. It received over 460 applications, all from applicants who already held medical marijuana licenses in the state. (47 AA11569-011575 (list of all applicants).) Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.210(4), the Department had 90 days to grade and rank the qualifying applications, and it finished the task using qualified independent contractors hired for this specific purpose in order to protect the grading process from bias. (33 AA8243-44.)

The Department awarded conditional licenses to the highest scoring applicants on December 5, 2018. (47 AA11569-11575.) With only 61 licenses available, and over 460 applications submitted, many applicants that were already successfully operating marijuana establishments in Nevada were unsuccessful in obtaining a license. At the time the applications were submitted, many applicants—both successful and unsuccessful—were owned in whole or in part by publicly traded companies. (*See*, *e.g.*, 42 AA10353, 10354; 43 AA10521; 43 AA10681-84; 44 AA10834). Other applicants were acquired by publicly traded companies soon after applications were submitted and before the preliminary injunction hearing took place. (*See*, *e.g.*, 44 AA10781; 42 AA10355, AA10356.) As noted above, GreenMart was awarded four conditional licenses based on the strength of its applications.

///

B. Unsuccessful Applicants File Suit.

Shortly after the Department allocated licenses to the highest-scoring applicants, several Unsuccessful Applicants brought suits against the Department challenging the application process and alleging improprieties in the applications themselves, the scoring process, and the allocation of the licenses to applicants. (1 AA1 - 2 AA375 (complaints).) Several of the Successful Applicants, including GreenMart, intervened in the lawsuits to protect their conditional license rights and defend the Department's process. (4 AA986-90; 5 AA1127-37; 6 AA1289-92; 6 AA1308-12; 8 AA1820-21.)

Plaintiffs in four of the cases filed motions for preliminary injunction against the Department, seeking to enjoin the opening of any new establishments under the conditional licenses. (4 AA769-878; 6 AA1355-1377; 6 AA1378 - 7 AA1735; 11 AA2535-40.) The district court coordinated four of the cases in Department XI of the Eighth Judicial District Court solely for the purpose of holding an evidentiary hearing on these motions. (20 AA4938-40.)

That evidentiary hearing began on May 24, 2019 and did not conclude until August 16, 2019. (*See* 29 AA7170 - 46 AA11332 (transcripts of Hearing Days 1 through 20).) The moving parties—all of which were Unsuccessful Applicants—used the 20-day hearing to conduct an extensive in-court fishing expedition into the entire application process, casting around for some flaw to justify setting it aside.

The Unsuccessful Applicants took a kitchen-sink approach, challenging everything, including the Department's inclusion of diversity as a grading criterion (4 AA790, 45 AA11108-09), its decision not to allocate points for locations (45 AA11102-03), and its decision to use outside contractors in the grading process. (6 AA1385-86; 45 AA11156.)

C. The Issue Regarding Backgrounds Checks of "Each Prospective Owner" is Raised for the First Time at the Evidentiary Hearing.

Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) requires the Department to "conduct a background check of each prospective owner, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." Background checks work to preserve public safety, as they help to exclude owners, officers, and board members who have excluded felonies or other histories that would pose a risk to the public. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.020(1).

In considering the ownership of applicants, the Department adopted a regulation in NAC 453D.255(1) providing that, among other things, the background check mandated by Nev. Rev. Stat. § 453D.200(6) would "only apply to a person with an aggregate ownership interest of 5 percent or more in a marijuana establishment" (the "5% Rule"). An identical 5% rule had been adopted in 2014 for medical marijuana establishments (*see* NAC 453A.302), and witnesses from the Department testified that the 5% Rule was a reasonable interpretation of the statute that was necessary to allow the Department to regulate the industry through

regulations that "aren't unduly burdensome" while also ensuring that "the interests of the State are protected" as well as "public safety." (39 AA10068; *see also id.* at 10067 (testimony of former Department Executive Director Deonne Contine that "the whole idea behind the process was to balance the public safety . . . and the interest of the industry").)

The adoption of the 5% Rule was not unexpected. It had been specifically requested by the industry and was expressly recommended by the Governor's Task Force in 2017 through a working group headed by one of the principals of the Unsuccessful Applicants, John Ritter.³ (46 AA11436-37.) Before these regulations were adopted in 2018, the Department complied with the process for drafting regulations, sending them to workshops and submitting them to the Legislative Council and to the Legislative Commission for approval. (41 AA10109.)

The 5% Rule serves to ensure that the Department need not conduct background checks of minor shareholders who have no ability to control a company.

(41 AA10112⁴.) This regulation especially considered the practical application to

-

³ John Ritter, an advisory board member, manager, and previous owner of Respondent TGIG, LLC, was one of Respondents' primary witnesses in the evidentiary hearing. Ironically, Ritter was also a sponsor for the "Taxation/Revenue/Regulatory Structure Working Group" on the Governor's Task Force that expressly recommended the 5% Rule be adopted by the Department as a regulation. (46 AA11493.)

⁴ ("... the thinking was a person with less than a 5 percent ownership is not going to have an ownership interest such that they could sway or there could be situations where they have enough control to bring in -- to sell product out the back door. And

Applicants—so that the Department would not be required to conduct background checks on hundreds, or even thousands, of nominal shareholders who have no real ability to control the company, and whose shares may trade hands multiple times each day. (42 AA10321 (testimony that conducting a background check on every shareholder in a publicly traded company "would basically shut down the [Department's] ability to operate").)

As Nevada Organic Remedies ("NOR") noted in its Opening Brief, several of the Successful Applicants—including GreenMart—have a publicly traded parent company. (NOR Opening Brief ("OB"), p. 12.) Likewise, several of the Unsuccessful Applicants have publicly traded parent companies. (*Id.*) Before the evidentiary hearing, none of the Unsuccessful Applicants raised the 5% Rule or its application to the requirements of NRS 453D.200(6). (*See generally* 1 AA1 - 2 AA375 (complaints).) It was not until the middle of the evidentiary hearing, when John Ritter—who had recommended the 5% Rule to the Governor's Task Force—was called as a witness and stated his new belief (which directly contradicted his recommendations contained in the Governor's Task Force Report) that the 5% Rule somehow violated NRS 453D.200(6) became an issue. (29 AA7386.)

so that was a reasonable amount based on feedback from the industry and concerns that they had about how the process had become so burdensome to them, and then also balancing that with the public safety piece.")

D. The District Court Finds the 5% Rule to Be an "Impermissible Deviation" From Ballot Question 2 and Issues a Preliminary Injunction on this Ground.

After Mr. Ritter mentioned the 5% Rule, the district court seized upon the issue and made it a central focus of the hearing. During the evidentiary hearing, the district court expressed its belief that because the recreational marijuana statute was passed by voter initiative, the Department's ability to adopt regulations interpreting the statute was limited. The court frequently stated it believed the Department had less deference in adopting regulations arising from ballot questions than it did in interpreting statutes passed by the legislature due to Article 19, section 2 of the Nevada Constitution, which states that "[a]n initiative measure ... shall not be amended ... by the legislature within 3 years from the date it takes effect."

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