IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREENMART OF NEVADA NLV LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company; NEVADA ORGANIC REMEDIES, LLC; and LONE MOUNTANT PARTNERS, LLC.

Appellants,

VS.

SERENITY WELLNESS CENTER LLC; TGIG, LLC; NULEAF INCLINE DISPENSARY, LLC; HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC; TRYKE COMPANIES SO NV. LLC: TRYKE COMPANIES RENO, LLC; PARADISE WELLNESS CENTER, LLC: NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC; FIDELIS LLC; **GRAVITAS** HOLDINGS. NEVADA, LLC; **NEVADA** LLC; MEDIFARM, LLC: MEDIFARM. LLC; THE **STATE** OF and **OF** NEVADA. DEPARTMENT TAXATION,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed
Supreme Court Case No.: ACIETA OF SUPREME Court Case No.: ACIETA OF SUPREME COURT

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

64. The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that "[i]nitiative petitions must be kept substantively intact; otherwise, the people's voice would be obstructed. . . [I]nitiative legislation is not subject to judicial tampering-the substance of an initiative petition should reflect the unadulterated will of the people and should proceed, if at all, as

originally proposed and signed. For this reason, our constitution prevents the Legislature from changing or amending a proposed initiative petition that is under consideration." <u>Rogers v. Heller</u>, 117 Nev. 169, 178, 18 P.3d 1034,1039-40 (2001).

- 65. BQ2 provides, "the Department shall adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of this chapter." NRS 453D.200(1). This language does not confer upon the DoT unfettered or unbridled authority to do whatever it wishes without constraint. The DoT was not delegated the power to legislate amendments because this is initiative legislation. The Legislature itself has no such authority with regard to NRS 453D until three years after its enactment under the prohibition of Article 19, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada.
- 66. Where, as here, amendment of a voter-initiated law is temporally precluded from amendment for three years, the administrative agency may not modify the law.
- 67. NRS 453D.200(1) provides that "the Department shall adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of this chapter." The Court finds that the words "necessary or convenient" are susceptible to at least two reasonable interpretations. This limitation applies only to Regulations adopted by the DoT.

See FFCL, 22 AA 5294:14 to 5295:26, at ¶¶ 61-67 (Emphasis in original.)

Thus, contrary to NOR's arguments, the district court properly addressed NRS 453D.200(1) and correctly found the "necessary or convenient" language applies only to Regulations adopted by the DoT. <u>Id.</u>, ¶67. It does not, however, as the district court properly addressed, "confer upon the DoT unfettered or unbridled authority to do whatever it wishes without constraint." <u>Id.</u>, ¶65. Statutory provisions supersede administrative regulations. <u>See</u> 1992 Op. Nev. Att'y Gen. No. 6 (July 21, 1992) (citing <u>Jones v. Employment Services Div'n of Human Services Dep't.</u>, 619 P.2d 542, 1544 (N.M.1980)).

Contrary to NOR's argument, the DoT, as the district court found, "was not delegated the power to legislate amendments because this is initiative legislation" and "[t]he Legislature itself has no such authority with regard to NRS 453D until three years after its enactment under the prohibition of Article 19, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada." <u>Id.</u>, ¶65. Where, as here, amendment of a voter-initiated law (i.e., BQ2) is temporally precluded from amendment for three years, the administrative agency may not modify the law. <u>Id.</u>, ¶66.

Also contrary to NOR's argument, the district court's finding is proper in light of Rogers v. Heller, 117 Nev. 169, 178, 18 P.3d 1034,1039-40 (2001), where this Court recognizing that "[i]nitiative petitions must be kept substantively intact; otherwise, the people's voice would be obstructed. . . [and] initiative legislation is not subject to judicial tampering-the substance of an initiative petition should reflect the unadulterated will of the people and should proceed, if at all, as originally proposed and signed." Id., ¶64.

Wherefore, based upon the above, the district court properly found the 5% rule found at NAC 453D.255(1) was not permitted under NRS 453D.200(1), which requires DoT to "adopt all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of" NRS 453D because the 5% rule is counter to the mandatory provisions of NRS 453D.200(6). See FFCL, 22 AA 5291, ¶¶41-44.

4. NOR's argument regarding absurd and unreasonable results is without merit.

At pages 28-32 of its Opening Brief NOR argues the district court's rulings regarding NRS 453D.200(6) results in absurd and unreasonable results. This argument is without merit.

Article 19, Section 2 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada provides, in pertinent part:

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 1 of Article 4 of this Constitution, but subject to the limitations of Section 6 of this Article, the people reserve to themselves the power to propose, by initiative petition, statutes and amendments to statutes and amendments to this Constitution, and to enact or reject them at the polls.

If a majority of voters voting on such question votes to approve such statute or amendment, it becomes law. Nevada Constitution, Art. 19, Sec. 2(3). "An initiative measure so approved by the voters shall not be amended, annulled, repealed, set aside or suspended by the legislature within 3 years from the date it takes effect." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The district court correctly recognized that initiative petitions must be kept intact "otherwise, the people's voice would be obstructed." See FFCL, 22 AA 005295, ¶ 64 (quoting Rogers, supra, 117 Nev. at 178, 18 P.3d at 1039-40). Further, the district court similarly correctly found that the DoT did not have the authority to legislate amendments because BQ2 was initiative legislation. Id., FFCL, at ¶ 65. The DoT's decision to not require disclosure on the application and to not conduct background checks of persons owning less than five percent prior to award of conditional license was an obvious and impermissible deviation from the mandatory language of BQ2, which was voter approved, and which mandated a "background check of each prospective owner, officers, and board member of a marijuana license establishment." Id., FFCL, at ¶¶ 81-85. Pursuant to the Nevada Constitution, the DoT could not, as the district court properly held, modify the background check requirement set forth in BQ2.

The district court's interpretation of NRS 453D.200(6) was reasonable. "When the words of a statute are clear and ambiguous, they will be given their plain, ordinary meaning," and this Court does not look beyond the language of the statute. State v. Friend, 118 Nev. 115, 120, 40 P.3d 436, 439 (2002) (citing Banegas v. State Indus. Ins. System, 117 Nev. 222, 225, 19 P.3d 245, 247 (2001).

9 10

8

1213

11

1415

16

1718

19

20

2122

2324

25

2627

28

If a statute is susceptible to more than one interpretation it is ambiguous, *and it is only then*, when the Court interprets the statute in accord with reason and public policy to avoid an absurd result. <u>Friend</u>, 118 Nev. at 120; 40 P.3d at 439.

NOR contends that language of NRS 453D.200(6) is ambiguous. A plain reading of the statute demonstrates that there is nothing ambiguous about the language of the statute. This Court does not need to look beyond the plain, language of the statute. NRS 453D.200(6) states: "The Department shall conduct a background check of each prospective owner, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." The language is clear. It requires mandatory background checks for each owner, officer and board member of an applicant. The statute clearly does not say that the DoT is to conduct background check on half of the prospective owners, on a few of the owners, or on owners who are identified as having a five percent or less ownership interest in the interest applicant. Consequently, it was arbitrary and capricious, as the district found, for the DoT to replace the voter-approved background check requirement in NRS 453D.200(6) with the standard set forth in NAC 452.255(1), i.e., limiting background checks to only those prospective owners, officers, and board members with an ownership interest of five percent or greater. The DoT had no discretion to do so and the revised requirement was inconsistent with the voter-approved language.

NOR further contends that it would be unreasonable for this Court to give the statute a plain reading because it would be too difficult for the DoT to complete background checks. See Opening Brief, pgs. 29-32. As the district court correctly noted, BQ2 specifically identified regulatory and public safety concerns. Given the lack of robust investigative process for applicants, the requirement of the background check for each prospective owner, officer and board member as part of

1 | tl
2 | F
3 | c
4 | E
5 | o
6 | 2
7 | E

9 10

8

1112

14

13

15 16

17

18

19

2021

22

2324

25

26

27

28

the application process facilitates the important public safety goal in BQ2. <u>See</u>, FFCL, 22 AA 005292, ¶ 45. Without question, conducting a thorough background check of each prospective owner, officer and board member was the only way the DoT could ensure it prevented the infiltration of criminals and criminal organizations into Nevada's regulated marijuana market application process. In its 2001 report entitled "Behind the Corporate Veil, Using Corporate Entities for Illicit Purposes," the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development found the following:

... a critical factor in misusing corporate vehicles is the potential for anonymity. Not surprisingly, therefore, the types of corporate vehicles that are misused most frequently are those that provide the greatest degree of anonymity, such as international business corporations (IBCs), exempt companies, trusts, and foundations established in jurisdictions that offer a high degree of secrecy and which do not maintain effective mechanisms that would enable their authorities to identify the true owners when illicit activity is suspected. The use of these vehicles can also frustrate financial institutions' efforts to comply with customer identification requirements under anti-money laundering laws. Corporate vehicles, such as corporations, trusts, foundations, and partnerships, are often used together to maximize anonymity. In addition, perpetrators of illicit activities frequently employ various corporate vehicles, each established in a different jurisdiction, in order to frustrate any effort by the authorities to discover the ultimate beneficial owner and controller.¹¹

What would actually be absurd is if the DoT could abdicate its responsibilities to conduct background checks of each prospective owner, officer and board member to ensure Nevada's recreational marijuana industry is safe and void of criminal elements because it was a "herculean task" or because it would get "bogged down

¹¹ Behind the Corporate Veil: Using Corporate Entities for Illicit Purposes, Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development , pp. 21-22, https://www.oecd.org/corporate/ca/43703185.pdf.

in meaningless background checks." It is doubtful the voters who approved BQ2 would consider background checks that addressed their regulatory and public safety concerns meaningless.

5. NOR's statutory scheme and spirit of the law argument fails.

Next, NOR argues the district court's rulings regarding NRS 453D.200(6) violate the statutory scheme and sprit of the law. <u>See</u> Opening Brief, at pgs. 32-37. Yet again, NOR is incorrect.

As support for its argument, NOR cites two (2) cases. It cites a portion of a sentence from Justice Stevens' dissenting opinion in <u>FMC Corp. v. Holliday</u>, 498 U.S. 52, 66 (1990), and it relies upon <u>Schaffer v. CC Investments, LDC</u>, 153 F.Supp.2d 484, 485 (S.D.N.Y. 2001), for its discussion of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. <u>See</u> Opening Brief, at pgs. 32 and 35, respectively. Neither of these address Chapter 453 of the NRS or statutory scheme and/or spirit of the law analysis.

NOR does make reference to other inapplicable and irrelevant statutes and rules. For instance, NOR cites certain gaming *statutes*, NRS 463.569(1), NRS 463.5735(1), NRS 463.643(3), and NRS 643.014645(2)(b) which contain 5% ownership interest language. See Opening Brief, at 34-35. NOR also cites to the federal *statute*, 15 USC 78m(d)(1) which also contains 5% ownership interest language. Id., pg. 35. Obviously, these NOR's citations are to *statutes* which themselves contain specific language dealing with 5% ownership interest.

Here, however, the at-issue statutes, chapter 453D of the NRS, and NRS 453D.200(6) in particular, lack such reference to 5% ownership interest. Nevada law is clear that an administrative regulation (like NAC 453D.255(1) as it applies to the application process) cannot countermand, contradict, or conflict with the requirements of a statutory mandate (like NRS 453D.200(6) here) which the

regulation is intended to implement. "The mere enacting of the mentioned administrative regulation obviously cannot countermand the statutory mandate." Clark County Social Service Dept. v. Newkirk, 106 Nev. 177, 179, 789 P.2d 227, 228 (1990). Administrative regulations cannot contradict or conflict with the statute they are intended to implement. Roberts v. State of Nevada, Univ. of Nevada System, 104 Nev. 33, 37, 752 P.2d 221, 223 (1988) (citing Agsalud v. Blalack, 67 Haw. 588, 699 P.2d 17 (1985); New Mexico Bd. of Pharmacy v. New Mexico Bd. of Osteopathic Medical Examiners, 95 N.M. 780, 626 P.2d 854 (N.M. App. 1981) (an administrative agency has no power to create a rule or regulation

NOR also compares NAC 453D.255(1) to NAC 453A.302(1). <u>See</u> Opening Brief, pgs. 33-34. In keeping with the above-referenced authority, however, NOR's contention about these regulations ignores the fact that statutory authority at NRS 453A is not in conflict with the NAC 453A regulation. This can be seen in the fact that NRS 453A.322 contains 5% ownership interest provisions. Again, the at-issue NRS 453D.200(6) does not.

that is not in harmony with its statutory authority)).

As addressed by the district court in its FFCL (see above) NOR's insistence that a 5% ownership interest provision be grafted onto NRS 453D.200(6) simply cannot be reconciled with general statutory construction principles. This Court teaches that in construing statutes in which certain things are enumerated, that other things are to be excluded. State ex. rel Nevada Tax Comm'n v. Boerlin, 38 Nev. 39, 144 P. 738 (1914). Heywood v. Nye County, 36 Nev. 568, 571, 137 P. 515, 516-17 (1913) (a court has no legislative power and cannot read into a statute a provision not included by the legislature). The Nevada Supreme Court in Department of Taxation v. DaimlerChrysler Services, 121 Nev. 541, 119 P.3d 135 (2005), noted "Nevada law also provides that omissions of subject matters from statutory provisions are presumed to have been intentional." Id., at 548, 119 P.3d

at 139. (citing <u>Galloway v. Truesdell</u>, 83 Nev. 13, 26, 422 P.2d 237, 246 (1967) ("The maxim 'EXPRESSIO UNIUS EST EXCLUSIO ALTERIUS', the expression of one thing is the exclusion of another, has been repeatedly confirmed in this State.")).

Wherefore, the district court's interpretation of NRS 453D.200(6) and/or NAC 453D.255(1) was proper and its findings and rulings should be affirmed.

6. The Serenity Applicants have standing.

NOR argues the Serenity Applicants (and other Plaintiffs at the district court) lack standing to challenge the implementation of NRS 453D.200(6). See Opening Brief, at pages 37-39. NOR's standing argument does not qualify for consideration by the Court because it lacks citation to the part(s) of the record on which NOR relies (NRAP 28(a)(10)(A)) and this lack of citation is reason enough to reject it. Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagnon, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993) ("This court need not consider the contentions of an appellant where the appellant's opening brief fails to cite to the record on appeal."). See also NRAP 28(e)(1).

The district court's findings of fact as contained in its FFCL provide, in part, as follows with respect to NRS 453D.200(6).

- 36. NAC 453D.272(1) required the DoT to determine that an Application is "complete and in compliance" with the provisions of NAC 453D in order to properly apply the licensing criteria set forth therein and the provisions of the Ballot Initiative and the enabling statute.
- 37. When the DoT received applications, it undertook no effort to determine if the applications were in fact "complete and in compliance."
- 38. In evaluating whether an application was "complete and in compliance" the DoT made no effort to verify owners, officers or board members (except for checking whether a transfer request was made and remained pending before the DoT).

¹² [Original fn. 12] NRS 453D.200(1) provides in part:

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